PROTEIN MODIFICATION BY SUMO

Erica S. Johnson

Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Pharmacology, Thomas Jefferson University, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19107; email: erica.johnson@jefferson.edu

Key Words post-translational modification, ubiquitin-like protein, PIAS, Ubc9, Ulp

■ Abstract Small ubiquitin-related modifier (SUMO) family proteins function by becoming covalently attached to other proteins as post-translational modifications. SUMO modifies many proteins that participate in diverse cellular processes, including transcriptional regulation, nuclear transport, maintenance of genome integrity, and signal transduction. Reversible attachment of SUMO is controlled by an enzyme pathway that is analogous to the ubiquitin pathway. The functional consequences of SUMO attachment vary greatly from substrate to substrate, and in many cases are not understood at the molecular level. Frequently SUMO alters interactions of substrates with other proteins or with DNA, but SUMO can also act by blocking ubiquitin attachment sites. An unusual feature of SUMO modification is that, for most substrates, only a small fraction of the substrate is sumoylated at any given time. This review discusses our current understanding of how SUMO conjugation is controlled, as well as the roles of SUMO in a number of biological processes.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION
THE SUMO CONJUGATION PATHWAY 357
SUMO
SUMO-Activating Enzyme (E1)
SUMO-Conjugating Enzyme (E2)
SUMO Ligases (E3s)
SUMO-Cleaving Enzymes 364
Substrate Specificity in Sumoylation
Regulation of SUMO Conjugation
BIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS OF SUMO
Transcription
PML Nuclear Bodies
Chromosome Organization and Function
DNA Repair
Nuclear Transport
Sumoylation of Nonnuclear Proteins
Signal Transduction Pathways

MECHANISMS OF SUMO ACTION	/4
SUMO's Interactions With the Ub-Proteasome Pathway	14
Sumoylation Modulates Interactions of Substrate	15
Stoichiometric Versus Cycling Roles for SUMO Conjugation	/6
CONCLUDING REMARKS	17

INTRODUCTION

Covalent modifications of proteins are rapid, energetically inexpensive mechanisms for reversibly altering protein function, and modifications such as phosphorylation, acetylation, and ubiquitylation participate in most cellular activities. Ubiquitylation, which involves attachment of the 76-residue protein ubiquitin (Ub) to other proteins, often targets the substrate protein for degradation by the proteasome, but it can also have several other functions (1, 2). Recently, several small ubiquitin-like proteins (Ubls) that also act as post-translational modifications on other proteins have been discovered. These Ubls vary widely in their degree of sequence similarity to Ub but share a common chemistry for becoming attached to internal lysine residues in substrate proteins (3). Ubls have a variety of different functions, but they do not target their substrates directly for proteasome-dependent proteolysis. The Ubls with the widest range of functions and the most known substrates are the members of the SUMO (small ubiquitin-related modifier) family. Several previous reviews on SUMO cover earlier work and specific topics in depth (4-8).

SUMOs constitute a highly conserved protein family found in all eukaryotes and are required for viability of most eukaryotic cells, including budding yeast, nematodes, fruit flies, and vertebrate cells in culture (9–13). In multicellular organisms, SUMO conjugation takes place in all tissues at all developmental stages (14–21). Since its discovery in 1996, SUMO has been found covalently attached to more than 50 proteins, which include the androgen receptor, I $\kappa B\alpha$, c-jun, histone deacetylases (HDACs), p53, and other proteins that participate in transcription, DNA repair, nuclear transport, signal transduction, and the cell cycle. Most SUMO-modified proteins that have been characterized in mammalian systems are involved in transcription, which is often repressed by SUMO conjugation. However, genetic studies in model organisms have pointed to a role for SUMO in chromosome dynamics and higher order chromatin structures, illustrating the diversity of SUMO function.

At this time, only one fairly uninformative generalization about the downstream consequences of SUMO attachment is possible: SUMO alters substrate interactions with other macromolecules. SUMO often has a positive effect on protein-protein interactions, and it promotes assembly of several multi-protein complexes. However, the effects of SUMO on interactions vary for different substrates. For example, sumoylation allows RanGAP1 to bind tightly to the nuclear pore complex protein RanBP2/Nup358 (22, 23), but no other sumoylated proteins participate in a stable complex with RanBP2. SUMO can also act by a completely different mechanism: preventing ubiquitylation of a protein by blocking the lysine where Ub would normally be attached (24–27).

There are several reasons why proteins that have been intensely studied for many years, such as c-jun and the androgen receptor, have only recently been shown to be modified by SUMO. One is that SUMO-cleaving enzymes rapidly desumoylate all conjugates instantly upon cell lysis, unless cells are lysed under denaturing conditions or cleaving enzymes are inhibited. Another is that usually only a small fraction of the substrate, often less than 1%, is sumoylated at any given time. A third reason for the late discovery of SUMO is that, for some sumoylated proteins, eliminating the SUMO attachment site has fairly subtle effects on protein function, so that functional domains containing the attachment sites were not immediately apparent.

However, recent experiments have uncovered a variety of effects that can clearly be attributed to sumoylation of specific proteins at specific sites, and new substrates and functions for SUMO continue to be discovered at a rapid pace.

THE SUMO CONJUGATION PATHWAY

The linkage between SUMO and its substrates is an isopeptide bond between the C-terminal carboxyl group of SUMO and the ϵ -amino group of a lysine residue in the substrate. A three-step enzyme pathway attaches SUMO to specific substrates, and other enzymes cleave SUMO off its targets (Figure 1). The enzymes of the SUMO pathway, although analogous to those of the Ub pathway, are specific for SUMO and have no role in conjugating Ub or any of the other Ubls.

The SUMO pathway begins with a SUMO-activating enzyme (also called an E1), which carries out an ATP-dependent activation of the SUMO C terminus and then transfers activated SUMO to a SUMO-conjugating enzyme (E2) called Ubc9. SUMO is then transferred from Ubc9 to the substrate with the assistance of one of several SUMO-protein ligases (E3s). Ubc9 and the E3s both contribute to substrate specificity. Many of the Lys residues where SUMO becomes attached are in the short consensus sequence Ψ KXE, where Ψ is a large hydrophobic amino acid, generally isoleucine, leucine, or valine; K is the lysine residue that is modified; X is any residue; and E is a glutamic acid. This motif is bound directly by Ubc9. E3s probably enhance specificity by interacting with other features of the substrate. Sumoylation is a reversible modification, and removal of SUMO is carried out by enzymes of the Ulp family that specifically cleave at the C terminus of SUMO. Ulps are also required for generating mature SUMO from the SUMO precursor, which contains a short peptide blocking its C terminus.



Figure 1 The SUMO conjugation pathway. (*top*) Enzymes and reactions of the SUMO pathway are described in the text. (*bottom*) Enzymes present in *S. cerevisiae* (*S.c.*) and in human (*H.s.*), mouse (*M.m.*), and rat (*R.n.*) are listed. Alternative names and names of splice variants are in parentheses.

SUMO

SUMOs share only ~18% sequence identity with Ub, but the folded structure of the SUMO C-terminal Ub-like domain is virtually superimposable on that of Ub (28) (Figure 2). However, the surface charge topology of SUMO is very different from that of Ub, with distinct positive and negative regions (28). SUMOs are ~11 kDa proteins, but they appear larger on SDS-PAGE and add ~20 kDa to the apparent molecular weight of most substrates. SUMOs are ~20 amino acids longer than Ub, and the extra residues are found in an N-terminal extension, which is flexible in solution. The N-terminal extension of yeast SUMO can be entirely deleted with only modest effects on SUMO function, indicating that the Ub-like domain is sufficient for conjugation to many substrates and for any downstream interactions required for yeast viability (29). All SUMO genes actually encode a precursor bearing a short C-terminal peptide, which is cleaved off by Ulps to produce the mature Gly-Gly C terminus found in most Ubls.

The yeast and invertebrates studied to date contain a single SUMO gene, whereas vertebrates contain three: SUMO-1 (also known as sentrin, PIC1, GMP1, Ubl1, and Smt3c), SUMO-2 (sentrin-3, Smt3a), and SUMO-3 (sentrin-2, Smt3b) (13, 15, 16, 22, 23, 30–33). Plants contain even more SUMO genes, with



11	10	
(r)	

Ubiquiti	in MQIFVKTLTGKTITLEVEPSDTIENV	26
SUMO-1	MSDQEAKPSTEDLGDKKEGEYIKLKVIGQDSSEIHFKVKMTTHLKKL	47
SUMO-2	MSEEKPKEGVKTENDHINLKVAGQDGSVVQFKIKRHTPLSKL	42
SUMO-3	MADEKPKEGVKTENNDHINLKVAGQDGSVVQFKIKRHTPLSKL 4	43
Smt3	MSDSEVNQEAKPEVKPEVKPETHINLKVS-DGSSEIFFKIKKTTPLRRL 4	48
Ub	KAKIQDKEGIPPDQQRLIFAGKQLEDGRTLSDYNIQKESTLHLVLRLRGG	76
SUMO-1	KESYCQRQGVPMNSLRFLFEGQRIADNHTPKELGMEEEDVIEVYQEQTGG	97
SUMO-2	MKAYCERQGLSMRQIRFRFDGQPINETDTPAQLEMEDEDTIDVFQQQTGG	92
SUMO-3	MKAYCERQGLSMRQIRFRFDGQPINETDTPAQLEMEDEDTIDVFQQQTGG 9	93
Smt3	MEAFAKRQGKEMDSIRFLYDGIRIQADQTPEDLDMEDNDIIEAHREQIGG	98

Figure 2 Comparison of SUMO and ubiquitin. (*a*) Structural alignment of the backbones of SUMO-1 (*pink*) and ubiquitin (*blue*) is from the VAST database (NCBI) with structures from References 28 and 28a. The N termini are on the left and and the C termini on the right. The SUMO structure is of the precursor and includes the C-terminal tetrapeptide that is cleaved off. (*b*) Sequence alignment of *H. sapiens* Ub, SUMO-1, SUMO-2, and SUMO-3 and the *S. cerevisiae* SUMO protein Smt3 was made using ClustalW. Positions that are identical in all sequences are shaded dark blue, and conserved positions are light blue. Positions that are identical in at least three of the SUMO proteins, but not in Ub, are shaded pink.

eight in *Arabidopsis* (20, 21). The single SUMO genes in the nematode *Caeno-rhabditis elegans* and the budding yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* are essential for viability, while fission yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* lacking the SUMO gene *pmt3* are barely viable and have severe defects in genome maintenance (13, 32, 33).

Mammalian SUMO-2 and -3 share ~95% sequence identity with each other and are ~50% identical to SUMO-1. Although the same E1 and E2 enzymes activate and conjugate all SUMO isoforms, SUMO-1 appears to have a partially distinct function from SUMO-2 and -3, which are assumed, at present, to be functionally identical. Cells contain a large pool of free, unconjugated SUMO-2/3, but there is virtually no pool of free SUMO-1; at any given time, the vast majority of SUMO-1 is conjugated to other proteins (23, 34). Furthermore, conjugation of SUMO-2/3 is strongly induced in response to various stresses, but SUMO-1 conjugation is not (34). Plants have a similar pattern of SUMO isoform utilization, with some isoforms conjugated primarily under stress conditions (20, 21). Thus, one function of SUMO-2/3 may be to provide a reservoir of free SUMO for stress responses. There is also evidence that different SUMOs are used preferentially for different substrates. RanGAP1 is the major substrate of SUMO-1, but it is not strongly modified by SUMO-2/3 (34). Other proteins can be modified equally well by SUMO-1 and SUMO-2/3 (35, 36). It is likely that E3s mediate the differential conjugation of the SUMO isoforms (see below).

Another difference between SUMO-1 and SUMO-2/3 is that SUMO-2 and -3 contain Ψ KXE sequences in their N-terminal extensions, which can serve as SUMO attachment sites, thereby allowing formation of poly-SUMO chains (37). Yeast SUMO also contains a Ψ KXE sequence and can form chains (29, 38, 39). Chain formation by SUMO was a surprise because in vivo most SUMO attachment-site Lys residues bear only a single copy of SUMO, although proteins are often multiply sumoylated by attachment of mono-SUMO at different sites (40, 41). The only protein on which a SUMO-2 chain has been observed in cells is the histone deacetylase HDAC4; it forms a di-sumoylated conjugate that disappears when the SUMO attachment site in SUMO-2 is mutated (37). However, there are intriguing data suggesting that cleavage of the amyloid precursor protein to generate the amyloid β peptide involves SUMO-2/3 chain formation (42). The function of SUMO chains is unclear in yeast, where chain formation can be eliminated without notable effects on either SUMO function or the pattern of conjugates (29, 43).

SUMO-Activating Enzyme (E1)

Like the E1 for Ub, the SUMO-activating enzyme (E1) catalyzes a three-part reaction. First, the C-terminal carboxyl group of SUMO attacks ATP, forming a SUMO C-terminal adenylate and releasing pyrophosphate. Next, the thiol group of the active site cysteine in the E1 attacks the SUMO adenylate, releasing AMP and forming a high-energy thiolester bond between the E1 and the C terminus of SUMO. Finally, the activated SUMO is transferred to a cysteine in the E2. The crystal structure of the related E1 for the Ubl Nedd-8 suggests that three distinct domains catalyze each of the steps (44). Most organisms contain a single SUMO-activating enzyme, which is required for conjugation of all SUMO variants to all substrates. Interestingly, the SUMO E1 is a heterodimer, whereas the Ub E1 is a monomer, but both components of the SUMO enzyme are related to the Ub enzyme. Aos1 (also called SAE1, Sua1) resembles the N terminus of the Ub E1, while Uba2 (SAE2) corresponds to the C terminus and contains the active site cysteine (33, 45, 46). Although the two-subunit structure of the SUMO E1 suggests that Aos1 and Uba2 might function or be regulated separately, all cellular Uba2 and Aos1 is found in the heterodimer (47). However, Arabidopsis actually has two SAE1 (AOS1) genes, whose products presumably each partner with the product of the single SAE2 (UBA2) gene (21).

SUMO-Conjugating Enzyme (E2)

In the second step of the pathway, SUMO is transferred from the E1 to the active site cysteine of the SUMO-conjugating enzyme (E2), forming a SUMO-E2 thiolester intermediate. This serves as the SUMO donor in the final reaction in which SUMO is transferred to the amino group of a Lys in the substrate. Ubc9 is the only SUMO-conjugating enzyme in yeast and invertebrates and most likely in vertebrates as well (10, 13, 48, 49). The presence of only one SUMO E2 contrasts with the Ub pathway where multiple E2s participate in ubiquitylating distinct sets of substrates. Ubc9 shares considerable sequence similarity with ubiquitylation E2s and also assumes essentially the same folded structure, although Ubc9 has a strong overall positive charge (50). A patch surrounding the active site cysteine of Ubc9 binds directly to the ΨKXE consensus sequence in the substrate (51, 52). A second region on Ubc9, separate from the active site, binds directly to SUMO and is involved in transfer of SUMO from the E1 (39, 53). Like the genes for SUMO, Aos1, and Uba2, the gene encoding Ubc9 is essential in all organisms tested except S. pombe, in which the mutant lacking the Ubc9 gene hus5 has the same phenotypes as mutants lacking SUMO, Aos1 or Uba2 (11-13, 32, 54-56).

SUMO Ligases (E3s)

Three distinct types of SUMO ligases (E3s) have been discovered recently. One includes members of the PIAS (protein inhibitor of activated STAT) family (57, 58), originally discovered as inhibitors of STAT transcription factors (59); another consists of a domain in the large vertebrate nuclear pore protein RanBP2/Nup358 (60); and the third is the polycomb group protein Pc2 (61). These proteins meet the definition of an E3 in that they (a) bind the E2, (b) bind the substrate, and (c) promote transfer of SUMO from the E2 to the substrate in vitro (1). These SUMO E3s, like the RING domain-containing E3s involved in ubiquitylation, do not form covalent intermediates with SUMO, but instead they appear to act by bringing together Ubc9 and the substrate. They may also activate Ubc9. There was initially some doubt as to whether there would be E3s in the SUMO pathway because SUMO conjugation can take place in vitro in the absence of an E3, and this reaction is specific for the Lys residues that are actually modified in vivo (45, 46). However, the vast majority of sumoylation in yeast is E3-dependent (38, 62), and E3s enhance SUMO attachment in vitro to all substrates that have been tested (38, 60, 63–68). Together these results indicate that E3s participate in at least most of the sumoylation that occurs in cells.

PIAS FAMILY E3s PIAS proteins share a conserved \sim 400 residue N-terminal domain that includes several shorter regions of greater similarity, notably a SAP domain (SAR, Acinus, PIAS), which has been implicated in binding AT-rich DNA sequences (64, 69–71), and an SP-RING, which resembles the RING domains found in many ubiquitylation E3s (57, 58). Like RING domains, which

bind ubiquitylation E2s, the SP-RING binds directly to Ubc9 and is required for the E3 activity of PIAS proteins, suggesting that it is the critical element for promoting the sumoylation reaction (63–65). PIAS proteins also contain a short motif of hydrophobic amino acids followed by acidic amino acids, called an SXS domain or SIM (SUMO interaction motif), which has been implicated in binding directly to SUMO (72). Deletion of the SIM has little effect on the ability of PIAS proteins to promote SUMO conjugation, but it can affect their localization and transcriptional effects (64, 66). The main differences between PIAS proteins lie in their 100–450 residue C-terminal tails, which share no sequence similarity with each other or with other known proteins. Some PIAS proteins also have splice variants that produce alternative C-terminal tails. It is likely that these C-terminal domains interact with specific substrates.

S. cerevisiae contains two PIAS family proteins, Siz1 and Siz2/Nfi1. Siz1 is required for sumoylation of septin family cytoskeletal proteins and of the replication processivity factor PCNA; whereas Siz2 does not promote septin or PCNA sumoylation but sumoylates other, as yet unidentified, proteins (24, 38, 62). Together, *SIZ1* and *SIZ2* are required for most sumoylation in yeast, but the *siz1* Δ *siz2* Δ double mutant still carries out low levels of SUMO conjugation. This double mutant is also viable, indicating that Siz-independent sumoylation can fulfill the essential functions of SUMO. However, the *siz1* Δ *siz2* Δ mutant does have significant growth defects not seen in either single mutant, suggesting that Siz1 and Siz2 have some overlapping functions. *Drosophila melanogaster* has a single PIAS gene, known as *dpias*, *Su(var)2–10*, or *zimp*, which produces at least two isoforms derived from alternative splicing. *dpias* is an essential gene that functions in chromosome organization and segregation as well as in blood cell and eye development (73–75).

Four mammalian genes encoding PIAS proteins have been described, *PIAS1* (also called *GuBP*), *PIAS3*, *PIASx*, and *PIASy* (59, 76, 77). PIAS3 has a splice variant called KChaP, and *PIASx* also produces two isoforms derived from alternative splicing, designated PIASx α (ARIP3) and PIASx β (Miz1) (78–80). PIAS1 and PIAS3 are found in all cell types, whereas PIASx and PIASy appear to be expressed primarily in testis (76, 81). PIASx α , PIASx β , PIASy, PIAS1, and PIAS3 all localize to intranuclear dots, which are, at least in part, PML nuclear bodies (see below) (64, 66, 82, 83).

By analogy with the Ub system, the purpose of the different PIAS proteins may be to sumoylate different substrates, but currently the only clear example of this is the specificity of Siz1 for septins and PCNA. Sumoylation of many vertebrate-derived substrates can be stimulated by several different PIAS proteins, upon overexpression both in cells and in vitro. For example, PIAS1, PIAS3, and PIASy can all promote sumoylation of p53 (63, 68). Such a result may suggest either that PIAS proteins have overlapping substrate specificities or that in vitro assays do not faithfully reproduce physiological substrate selection mechanisms. In support of this second possibility, Siz2/Nfi1 can stimulate SUMO attachment to septins in vitro, even though it is incapable of promoting septin sumoylation in vivo (43). However, PIAS proteins do show different substrate specificities with some substrates: PIAS1 and PIASx β , but not PIASx α , stimulate sumoylation of Mdm2 (82).

Another function of the different PIAS proteins may be to promote attachment of the different SUMO isoforms. PIASy preferentially conjugates SUMO-2, rather than SUMO-1, to the transcription factors LEF1 and GATA-2, and it strongly enhances overall SUMO-2 conjugation (64, 84). It is also not clear that all PIAS effects are mediated by SUMO conjugation. In particular, PIAS proteins inhibit binding of STAT transcription factors to DNA in vitro, and there is no evidence that this effect involves SUMO (76, 77, 85, 86).

RanBP2/Nup358 A second type of SUMO E3 consists of an \sim 300 residue region in the large vertebrate-specific nuclear pore protein RanBP2 (also called Nup358), which localizes to the cytoplasmic fibrils of the nuclear pore and contains several types of functional domains (60, 87, 88). The E3 domain, called the internal repeat (IR) domain, contains two repeats of an \sim 50 residue sequence that shares no sequence similarity with any of the known ubiquitylation E3s or any other protein. In addition to having the capacity to act as an E3 in the sumoylation of several proteins, including RanGAP1, the IR domain forms a stable trimeric complex with SUMO-RanGAP1 and Ubc9, and thus it is responsible for the localization of SUMO-RanGAP1 to the nuclear pore (89, 90). RanBP2 itself can also be sumoylated (60, 91). Presumably, sumoylation of nuclear proteins by RanBP2 would have to occur during nuclear import.

Although it has not been demonstrated conclusively that RanBP2 is required in vivo for sumoylation of proteins other than RanGAP1, in vitro results indicate that RanBP2 and PIAS proteins have mostly distinct sets of substrates, suggesting they may have fundamentally different specificities. The IR domain promotes SUMO attachment in vitro to several proteins, including HDAC4, Sp100, and RanGAP1, whose sumoylation is not stimulated by PIAS proteins. Conversely, PIAS proteins, but not RanBP2, stimulate sumoylation of p53 and Sp3 (60, 67, 92). However, other proteins can be sumoylated by either RanBP2 or PIAS proteins (82, 93).

Pc2 A third reported E3 for SUMO is the polycomb group (PcG) protein Pc2 (61). PcG proteins form large multimeric complexes that have histone methylation activity and that participate in transcriptional repression through establishment of epigenetically inherited domains of silent chromatin. The transcriptional corepressor CtBP associates with PcG bodies via Pc2, and Pc2 stimulates sumoylation of CtBP both in vivo and in vitro. Moreover, overexpression of Pc2 in cells causes SUMO and Ubc9 to colocalize at PcG bodies, suggesting that PcG bodies may be major sites of sumoylation. However, the enhancement of CtBP sumoylation by Pc2 in vitro is very modest (61), and PIAS1, PIASx β , and RanBP2 can also promote CtBP sumoylation (93), suggesting that there may be multiple factors involved in CtBP sumoylation.

SUMO-Cleaving Enzymes

The pattern of SUMO conjugates is dynamic and changes during the cell cycle and in response to various stimuli (94). SUMO-cleaving enzymes (also called isopeptidases) have at least two functions in this process: They remove SUMO from proteins, making the modification reversible, and they also provide a source of free SUMO to be used for conjugation to other proteins. Free SUMO is generated both from newly synthesized SUMO, which must be cleaved to remove a short C-terminal peptide, and from desumoylation of existing conjugates. Both of these sources of free SUMO are likely to be critical for maintaining normal levels of SUMO conjugation because cellular pools of unconjugated SUMO-1 and yeast SUMO are very low (23, 33).

All known SUMO-cleaving enzymes contain an \sim 200 amino acid C-terminal domain (the Ulp domain), which has the SUMO cleaving activity (95). The Ulp domain does not share sequence similarity with the enzymes that cleave Ub. Instead, it is distantly related to a number of viral proteases (94, 96). The different SUMO-cleaving enzymes have varying N-terminal domains, which are apparently regulatory and target the enzymes to different parts of the cell (97–100). Overexpression of the SUMO cleaving domain of the yeast enzyme Ulp1 is lethal in yeast, consistent with the likelihood that uncontrolled desumo-ylation is toxic (95).

Two desumoylating enzymes with distinct functions have been described in *S. cerevisiae*. Ulp1 localizes to the nuclear pore complex (NPC) and is required for cleaving both the SUMO precursor and SUMO conjugates to other proteins; whereas Ulp2/Smt4 localizes to the nucleus, does not cleave the precursor, and appears to desumoylate a distinct set of conjugates (94, 98, 101–103). Ulp1 and Ulp2 cannot compensate for each other functionally, as $ulp1\Delta$ cells are inviable, and $ulp2\Delta$ cells are stress sensitive and have defects in genome maintenance. The substrate specificity of Ulp1 is controlled by its N-terminal regulatory domain, which targets it to the NPC. Mutants lacking this domain both nonspecifically desumoylate Ulp2 targets and fail to desumoylate the normal targets of Ulp1 (97).

Seven genes in mammalian genomes encode proteins with Ulp domains, but at least one of these cleaves the Ubl Nedd-8 instead of SUMO (104–106). All have divergent N-terminal domains, and those that have been characterized localize to different parts of the cell, suggesting that they may desumoylate different proteins. These enzymes include SENP3 (SMT3IP1), which localizes to the nucleolus (107); SENP6 (SUSP1), found primarily in the cytoplasm (108); SENP1, which localizes to foci in the nucleus and the nuclear rim (109); and SENP2 (Axam, SMT3IP2/Axam2, SuPr-1), which produces at least three different isoforms derived from alternatively spliced mRNAs (110–112). Of these, the SENP2/Axam isoform has an N-terminal extension that allows it to bind the nucleoplasmic side of the nuclear pore complex (99, 100); Axam2/SMT3IP2 has a different N terminus and localizes to the cytoplasm (112); and SuPr1 lacks these N-terminal domains and localizes to PML nuclear bodies (110).

Substrate Specificity in Sumoylation

SUMO is attached to most substrates at the lysine in a Ψ KXE sequence, but there are clearly other determinants involved in substrate selection as well. Of the positions in the consensus sequence, the glutamic acid is the most highly conserved position other than the lysine. In some cases, even a conservative Glu to Asp mutation significantly reduces sumoylation (92, 113), although a few Ψ KXD sequences are sumoylated (40). The Ψ KXE motif is bound directly by the E2 Ubc9 (114), and this direct interaction explains why so many sumoylation substrates have been identified via their interaction with Ubc9 in the yeast two-hybrid screen and also why the E1 and Ubc9 alone are sufficient to sumoylate many substrates at the correct sites in vitro in the absence of an E3. Remarkably, a Ψ KXE sequence and a nuclear localization sequence (NLS) are sufficient to target an artificial substrate for sumoylation, indicating that the requirements for SUMO conjugation can be very simple (113). Most SUMO substrates localize to the nucleus, and many, including Sp100, HDAC4, Mdm2, and Smad4, require their NLSs for sumoylation (26, 67, 82, 115).

The Ψ KXE motif is very short and is found in many proteins, most of which are probably not modified by SUMO. For example, out of 5884 open reading frames (ORFs) in *S. cerevisiae*, there are 2799 sequences of the form (IVL)KXE distributed in 1913 different ORFs. Thus, interactions other than those between Ubc9 and the Ψ KXE motif are likely to be critical in determining which proteins are sumoylated. Most of these probably involve interactions between an E3 and the substrate or a substrate-associated protein. However, the crystal structure of the RanGAP1-Ubc9 complex shows an additional contact besides the Ψ KXE interaction (51), suggesting that other interactions between the substrate and Ubc9 may also participate in substrate selection.

Several proteins are also modified at sites other than Ψ KXE. The replication processivity factor PCNA has two sumoylation sites, one conforming to the consensus sequence and the other at a TKET sequence (24). TEL, PML, Smad4, and the Epstein Barr virus BZLF1 protein have reported sumoylation sites at TKED, AKCP, VKYC, and VKFT, respectively, and both lysines in a GKVEKVD sequence in Axin are sumoylated (116–120). Moreover, some sumoylated proteins, such as Mdm2, Daxx, CREB, and CTBP-2, do not contain a Ψ KXE sequence; others are still sumoylated when all consensus sites are mutated (61, 82, 121–124). It is not known how these nonconsensus sites are recognized.

Regulation of SUMO Conjugation

The set of proteins that is modified by SUMO changes during the cell cycle and in response to various conditions, but how SUMO conjugation is regulated is not well understood. In theory, sumoylation could be regulated at the level of either attachment or removal of SUMO; a change in either rate would alter the steady-state amount of protein modified. Some examples of proteins showing regulated SUMO modification are the yeast bud neck-associated septin proteins, which are modified only during mitosis and only on the mother-cell side of the bud neck (40). Septin sumoylation requires the E3 Siz1, which itself localizes to the mother-cell side of the bud neck exclusively during mitosis (38, 62). Thus, it is likely that septin sumoylation is regulated by controlling the localization of Siz1, possibly via phosphorylation of Siz1.

Phosphorylation of several substrates affects their sumoylation, mostly negatively. Phosphorylation of c-jun, PML, and I κ B α correlates with reduced SUMO attachment (25, 125, 126). Furthermore, the antagonistic relationship between phosphorylation and sumoylation is involved in activation of the transcription factor Elk-1 by MAP kinases (127). In unstimulated cells, sumoylated Elk-1 represses Elk-1-dependent gene expression (see below). Upon MAPK-dependent phosphorylation, Elk-1 is desumoylated and transcription is activated. However, phosphorylation has the opposite effect on sumoylation of the heat shock transcription factor HSF1, which must be phosphorylated in order to be sumoylated (128, 129).

Because lysines serve as the attachment sites for several modifications, which include Ub, other Ubls, acetylation, and methylation, it is possible that these modifications might regulate each other by competing for the same lysines. In fact, several proteins contain a lysine that can be modified by either Ub or SUMO (see below), and the transcription factor Sp3 contains a lysine that can be either acetylated or sumoylated (92, 130, 131).

Sumoylation of some proteins is regulated by binding interactions with other macromolecules. Sumoylation of Mdm2 and p53 in vivo is enhanced by association with the tumor suppressor ARF (132). In another example, sumoylation of the base excision repair protein thymine DNA glycosylase (TDG) in vitro is stimulated both by DNA and by the downstream enzyme in the repair pathway (36). In contrast, the transcription factor Sp3 is resistant to sumoylation when bound to DNA (92).

BIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS OF SUMO

Although identification of the enzymes of the SUMO pathway has proceeded rapidly, investigations of how SUMO affects biological processes are only at the early stages. Several features of the SUMO system, including the low levels of modification, the presence of Ulp activity in native lysates, and a number of complex interactions among different enzymes and substrates, combine to make functional analysis challenging. In fact, for some proteins that have been reported to be sumoylated, it is not clear that there is a function, or even that the protein is really sumoylated under endogenous expression levels of SUMO pathway enzymes.

The most important experiment in studying the function of SUMO conjugation to a particular protein is mutational elimination of the SUMO attachment site(s). This is usually done by mutating the attachment-site lysine, but because lysines can also serve as attachment sites for other modifications, the assignment of any effects to SUMO is more convincing if mutations at other positions in the Ψ KXE motif show similar effects. Overexpression, dominant negative, or knockdown experiments involving SUMO pathway enzymes can complement these results, but it is imperative that such experiments be done with both wild-type substrate and the substrate that cannot be sumoylated, to confirm that any effects are direct. Often the same effect is seen whether or not the SUMO attachment site in the protein being studied is present, suggesting that the effect involves sumoylation of another protein in the same pathway.

Transcription

Many of the known substrates of SUMO in mammalian systems are involved in gene expression and include transcriptional activators, repressors, coactivators, corepressors, and components of large subnuclear structures called PML nuclear bodies (PML NBs), PODs, or ND10. Two recent reviews address the role of SUMO in transcription (4, 5). For simplicity, the transcriptional effects of SUMO can be divided into two groups: those that are likely to involve sumoylated transcription factors bound to a particular promoter and those that involve PML NBs (4). The activities of many transcription factors are regulated by association with PML NBs, and assembly of PML NBs requires sumoylation of the PML protein. Thus, changes in the level of PML sumoylation have broad effects on transcription by several pathways.

Although direct evidence of sumoylated transcription factors bound to promoters has not yet been obtained, it is becoming clear that the presence of SUMO at a promoter represses trancription. Mutations that prevent SUMO attachment to the transcription factors Elk-1, Sp-3, SREBPs, STAT-1, SRF, c-myb, C/EBPs, to the androgen receptor, or to the coactivator p300 all increase transcription from responsive promoters, consistent with a negative role for SUMO in gene expression (86, 92, 127, 131, 133-138). Some other interesting examples of this effect are several transcription factors with "synergy control motifs," which were originally identified in the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) as peptide motifs that reduce GR-dependent transcription from promoters containing multiple GR binding elements (139). Mutating these motifs does not affect transcription from promoters with a single element. The critical feature of synergy control motifs is a ΨKXE sequence, and these sites are sumovlated, suggesting that SUMO attachment reduces the positive synergistic effect of having multiple receptors bound to the same promoter (139-141). Sumovlation of the progesterone receptor (PR) is also involved in complex negative regulatory interactions in which one isoform of PR, PR-A, can "transrepress" the transcriptional activity of the other isoform PR-B or of the estrogen receptor (142).

A possible clue to the mechanism of SUMO in transcriptional repression is that targeting SUMO itself to a promoter, by fusing it to a DNA binding domain, is sufficient to reduce promoter activity (127, 131). Because it is unlikely that SUMO per se has this activity, this result suggests that SUMO recruits other factors that repress transcription. Candidates for such factors include HDACs, the repressor protein Daxx, the NuRD complex component CHD3/ZFH, and PIAS proteins. HDAC6 binds to the repressor domain of p300 only when it is sumoylated. Furthermore, si-RNA-mediated knockdown of HDAC6 relieves SUMO-dependent transcriptional repression by p300, consistent with a model where SUMO attenuates transcription through recruitment of HDAC6 (138). Daxx and CHD3/ZFH both bind directly to SUMO, and both also associate with HDACs and are involved in transcriptional repression (72, 143–145). Intriguingly, some PIAS proteins interact with HDACs, and PIAS proteins also bind directly to SUMO and sumoylated proteins (72, 92, 146, 147). In fact, PIASy actually binds more tightly to SUMO-Sp3 than it does to unmodified Sp3 (92), which it targets for sumoylation, suggesting that PIASy may also function downstream of Sp3 sumoylation. When different PIAS proteins are tethered to promoters by fusion to DNA binding domains, some have negative effects on transcription, while others have positive effects (148). A distinct mechanism for SUMO in transcriptional repression involves sumoylation of HDACs themselves. HDAC1 and HDAC4 are both sumoylated, and sumoylation enhances their transcriptional repression activities (67, 149, 150).

Although SUMO attachment to most transcription factors results in repression, SUMO apparently has positive effects on transcriptional activation by the heat shock factors HSF1 and HSF2 and the β -catenin activated factor Tcf-4. HSF1 is sumoylated in response to heat shock, coinciding with HSF1 activation (129, 151), and, remarkably, sumoylation promotes binding of both HSF1 and HSF2 to DNA in vitro (151, 152). However, it is not yet clear whether this mechanism operates in vivo (129). Tcf-4-dependent transcription is activated by coexpression of β -catenin and PIASy, and this activation is reduced when Tcf-4 lacks SUMO attachment sites, suggesting that sumoylation activates Tcf-4 (153).

PML Nuclear Bodies

Other effects on transcription are mediated by PML NBs, whose central component is the PML protein. PML was discovered because the t(15;17) chromosomal translocation that causes acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL) generates a fusion between PML and the retinoic acid receptor (RAR α) [reviewed in (154, 155)]. Normal interphase cells have 5–10 PML NBs per nucleus, but NBs are disrupted by many viruses and by expression of the PML-RAR α fusion. PML -/mice are viable but vulnerable to infection and to developing tumors, while PML-/- cells in culture are radiation resistant and defective in p53-induced apoptosis. A number of other proteins also localize to PML NBs; these include



Figure 3 Assembly of PML nuclear bodies (NBs). Attachment of SUMO (S) to PML promotes formation of PML NBs and recruitment of associated proteins. Sumoylation of associated proteins may allow additional proteins (e.g., HP1) to bind.

the tumor suppressor p53, the Bloom Syndrome gene product BLM, the coactivator CBP, and Daxx, a transcriptional repressor that has been implicated in apoptosis. Two hypotheses regarding the function of NBs are that they are storage depots for nuclear factors or that they are the site of specific activities, such as modification or assembly of transcription factors. For example, there is evidence that acetylation of p53 by CBP takes place in PML NBs (156).

PML is covalently modified by SUMO at three sites (117, 157, 158), and sumoylation of PML is essential for formation of morphologically normal NBs and for recruitment of interacting proteins. When PML lacking SUMO attachment sites is introduced into PML -/- cells, the mutant PML protein forms aggregates, and many of the interacting proteins, including Sp100, CBP, ISG20, Daxx, and SUMO-1, fail to colocalize with either the PML or with each other (117, 157–161) (Figure 3). In several situations, higher levels of PML-SUMO conjugates correlate with enhanced PML NB formation. Arsenic trioxide, which can be used to treat APL, promotes both sumoylation of PML and reorganization of NBs (157). The converse effect is seen early in infection by many viruses, where disruption of PML NBs takes place simultaneously with desumoylation of PML [reviewed in (162, 163)].

Many of the other proteins that localize to PML NBs also become sumoylated. Curiously, most of these proteins still localize to PML NBs even if their sumoylation sites are mutated, suggesting that sumoylation of these proteins has some purpose other than to promote association with NBs. Proteins for which this is true include p53, LEF1, Sp100, Daxx, SRF1, and the cytomegalovirus proteins IE1 and IE2 (35, 64, 115, 121, 137, 164–167). One possible explanation for these results is that sumoylation of different proteins may produce a hierarchy of interactions: Sumoylation of PML could allow binding of one set of proteins. For example, sumoylation of Sp100 enhances binding to the heterochromatin protein HP1 in vitro, suggesting that Sp100 sumoylation may recruit HP1 to NBs

(168) (Figure 3). A second possibility is that sumoylation of different proteins creates a web of cooperative interactions, and loss of some of them is not sufficient to destabilize the whole structure (4). It is also conceivable that proteins in NBs may be sumoylated somewhat nonspecifically because high levels of sumoylation occur in NBs or because NB proteins are protected against desumoylating activities. However, arguing against this, mutant versions of Sp100 and CMV IE1 that do not localize to NBs are still sumoylated (115, 169), suggesting that they are specifically targeted for sumoylation.

Changes in the levels of various components of the SUMO pathway can have dramatic effects on the structure of PML NBs, with correspondingly dramatic effects on transcription, probably through sequestration and release of various NB-associated factors. For example, sequestration of the repressor protein Daxx by conditions that promote PML NB formation leads to activation of promoters that are otherwise repressed by Daxx (170-172). Another example involves c-jun-dependent transcription, which is strongly induced by overexpression of the SuPr-1 isoform of the SUMO isopeptidase SENP-2 (110). This induction does not depend on sumoylation of c-jun, but of PML, and does not take place in cells expressing only unsumoylatable PML. Paradoxically, SuPr-1 reduces PML sumovlation and disrupts PML NBs. This result suggests that c-jundependent transcription may be induced by a factor that is activated and sequestered in SUMO-PML-containing NBs but that is then released in greater quantities when PML NBs are disrupted by SuPr-1. In addition, overexpression of PIAS proteins has many transcriptional effects, and although it has not been tested in most cases, it seems likely that some of these effects are mediated by changes in PML NBs.

Chromosome Organization and Function

Genetic studies of SUMO pathway function in model organisms indicate a role for SUMO conjugation in higher-order chromatin structure and in chromosome segregation, but the molecular basis of these effects is largely unknown. *S. pombe* strains lacking SUMO conjugation, although viable, grow very poorly, are sensitive to DNA damaging agents, have a high frequency of chromosome loss and aberrant mitosis, and develop elongated telomeres (32, 54, 56). Furthermore, a mutant in the *D. melanogaster dpias* gene was isolated as a suppressor of position effect variegation, an effect in which heterochromatin induces transcriptional silencing of adjacent loci (74). *dpias* mutants also have chromosome condensation defects, aberrant chromosome segregation, high frequency of chromosome loss, and defects in telomere clustering and telomere-nuclear lamina associations (74). The *S. cerevisiae ulp*2 Δ strain also has a number of phenotypes indicating genomic instability and is defective in targeting the condensin complex, which is required for chromosome condensation, to rDNA repeats (96, 102, 103).

Several lines of evidence implicate SUMO in kinetochore function. SUMO was first identified in yeast as a high-copy suppressor of mutations in the *MIF2*

gene, which encodes a centromere-binding protein related to vertebrate CENP-C (173). CENP-C mutants are also suppressed by overexpression of SUMO (174). In addition, SUMO localizes at or adjacent to the kinetochore in mammalian cells, and a number of proteins associate with both centromeres and PML NBs, raising the possibility of a common, SUMO-related mechanism (175–178). The best characterized centromere function involves *S. cerevisiae* strains lacking the SUMO isopeptidase Ulp2, which exhibit premature separation of a section of the chromosome near the centromere prior to mitosis (179). *ulp2* Δ strains contain elevated levels of sumoylated topoisomerase II (Top2), and mutating the SUMO attachment sites in Top2 suppresses not only this precocious chromosome separation phenotype but also the temperature sensitivity of *ulp2* Δ mutants, suggesting that these phenotypes result in part from excess SUMO conjugation to Top2.

DNA Repair

Specific roles for SUMO in two DNA repair pathways have been described, and there are indications that SUMO also acts in other repair pathways. An elegant study focuses on the sumoylation of thymine DNA glycosylase (TDG), a base excision repair enzyme that removes thymine or uracil from T-G or U-G mismatched base pairs (36). The product of the TDG reaction is an abasic site, which is then repaired by downstream enzymes. In vitro, unmodified TDG carries out only a single round of base removal because the enzyme binds tightly to the abasic site that is produced by the reaction. In vivo this interaction probably facilitates transfer of the abasic site to the downstream machinery for completion of repair. SUMO-TDG, in contrast, catalyzes multiple rounds of base removal in vitro, indicating that it is not as strongly inhibited by its product as is unmodified TDG. Furthermore, SUMO conjugation to TDG is stimulated by DNA and by APE1, a downstream enzyme that processes abasic sites. These data suggest a model in which unmodified TDG cleaves the mismatched T or U and then, coordinated with recruitment of the downstream enzymes to the site, is sumoylated, released, and then desumoylated, regenerating the high-affinity form to carry out the next cycle of catalysis (36) (Figure 4*a*).

SUMO may also participate in maintaining the activity of DNA topoisomerase I (TOP1) and topoisomerase II, which are both sumoylated in mammalian cells in response to topoisomerase inhibitors (180, 181). A TOP1 mutant lacking the active site is also constitutively sumoylated in the absence of inhibitors (182), suggesting that some feature of the inactive protein promotes its sumoylation. Upon treatment of cells with the TOP1 inhibitor camptothecin, wild-type TOP1 clears from the nucleoli and disperses throughout the nucleus, whereas TOP1 lacking the SUMO attachment sites remains in the nucleoli (183), indicating that sumoylation may regulate TOP1 localization or may increase its activity.

SUMO also participates in the yeast postreplication repair system, which repairs DNA lesions during the G2 phase of the cell cycle (24). A critical element of this system is the attachment of Ub, either as mono-Ub or as a Ub chain, to



Figure 4 Stoichiometric versus cycling mechanisms for SUMO. (*a*) A model for the role of SUMO (S) in the thymine DNA glycosylase (TDG) reaction (36). (*b*) SUMO may be able to work through a sumoylation-desumoylation cycle in which SUMO promotes a change in the substrate that persists after desumoylation, or stoichiometrically, such that desumoylation restores the original state. Examples are described in the text.

the proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) at Lys¹⁶⁴. SUMO competes for attachment to this lysine and can also be attached at a second site. As would be expected if SUMO is blocking ubiquitylation, genetic evidence indicates that SUMO conjugation inhibits damage-induced DNA repair and mutagenesis (24, 184). PCNA is sumoylated most heavily during the S phase of the cell cycle; this may suggest that sumoylation prevents inappropriate recruitment of postreplication repair enzymes during the wrong phase of the cell cycle. Interestingly, either sumoylation or mono-ubiquitylation of PCNA can participate in spontaneous mutagenesis by this pathway (184), suggesting that SUMO can also affect PCNA function independently of Ub.

Nuclear Transport

Investigators studying nuclear transport were the first to discover that SUMO modifies other proteins when they isolated sumoylated RanGAP1, which is the most abundant SUMO-1 conjugate in vertebrate cells (22, 23). RanGAP1 is the

GTPase activating protein for the small GTPase Ran, which plays a central role in nucleocytoplasmic transport and also participates in several events during mitosis (185). It is not clear what role sumoylation of RanGAP1 plays in nuclear transport. SUMO-RanGAP1 binds tightly to the nuclear pore complex (NPC) by participating in a stable trimeric complex with Ubc9 and the IR domain of RanBP2/Nup358 (22, 89, 90). This tightly bound RanGAP1 is crucial in nuclear import assays in vitro, and soluble RanGAP1 cannot substitute for it (22). However, plant and yeast RanGAPs are not sumoylated, and yeast RanGAP localizes to the cytoplasm, indicating that in yeast, nuclear transport does not depend on RanGAP localization at the NPC. Another possible function of RanGAP1 sumoylation is that it could participate in the mitotic functions of Ran. During mitosis, SUMO-RanGAP1 localizes to the mitotic spindle and associates most strongly with the kinetochores. RanGAP1 that cannot be sumoylated does not associate with spindles (176). These results may indicate a centromereassociated function for SUMO-RanGAP1.

SUMO conjugation to proteins other than RanGAP1 also affects nuclear versus cytoplasmic localization. Even though yeast RanGAP is not sumoylated, nuclear import of certain yeast proteins is impaired in SUMO pathway mutants (186). This effect could involve sumoylation of other nuclear transport factors or of the cargo proteins. In mammalian cells, the presence of the E3 RanBP2 on the cytoplasmic site of the NPC and the SUMO isopeptidase SENP2 on the nucleoplasmic side suggests a model in which proteins might be rapidly sumoylated and desumoylated as they are imported into the nucleus (22, 23, 99, 100). There is no direct evidence for this idea, but the SUMO attachment sites in several proteins are required for their nuclear localization (93, 122, 124, 187). However, it is not clear whether SUMO affects nuclear transport or nuclear retention. The opposite effect on nuclear localization has also been seen: Sumoylation of TEL and *Dictyostelium* MEK1 is associated with their export to the cytoplasm (188, 189).

Sumoylation of Nonnuclear Proteins

Most SUMO conjugates are nuclear proteins, and it is likely that most of the major functions of SUMO take place in the nucleus. However, there are several cytoplasmic SUMO conjugates. The most prominent example is of course SUMO-RanGAP1, which is found on the cytoplasmic fibrils of the nuclear pore complex. Others include the yeast septins, which form a filamentous structure at the yeast bud neck, the glucose transporters GLUT1 and GLUT4 (40, 190, 191), and the signaling proteins $I\kappa B\alpha$, Axin, and *Dictyostelium* MEK1.

Signal Transduction Pathways

Stimulation of the inflammatory response pathway leads to activation of the transcription factor NF κ B by promoting Ub-dependent degradation of the NF κ B inhibitor I κ B. SUMO conjugation to I κ B α can inhibit this step because SUMO

is linked to the same Lys where Ub would be attached, thereby preventing I κ B α degradation (25). Consistent with a role for SUMO in stabilizing I κ B α , SUMO overexpression inhibits NF κ B-dependent transcription in mammalian cells (25). Curiously, SUMO has the opposite effect on the orthologous pathway in *Drosophila*, where sumoylation of the NF κ B ortholog Dorsal apparently promotes its import into the nucleus and transcriptional activity (192).

Another example of a role for SUMO in signal transduction is found in *Dictyostelium*, where a MAP kinase pathway controls chemotaxis and aggregation in response to extracellular cAMP (189). Within 15 s after cAMP addition, the MAPK kinase MEK1 becomes sumoylated, and the initially nuclear MEK1 and SUMO localize to the plasma membrane. It is not clear whether SUMO enhances nuclear export or plasma membrane association of MEK1. Simultaneously, the downstream MAPK ERK1 relocalizes from the cytoplasm to the plasma membrane. Strikingly, by 3 min after pathway activation, MEK1 has been desumoylated, and MEK1 and SUMO both disappear from the plasma membrane.

The SUMO pathway also affects signaling dependent on Axin, a protein that serves as a scaffold for enzymes in the Wnt pathway and participates in activation of the JNK MAP kinase. Axin is sumoylated at two sites at its extreme C terminus (119), and deletion of these sites eliminates MEKK1-dependent JNK activation but has no effect on Wnt signaling. Axin also interacts with two isoforms of the isopeptidase SENP-2, Axam and Axam2, and expressing either of these inhibits Wnt signaling, although the mechanism is not clear (111, 112).

MECHANISMS OF SUMO ACTION

SUMO's Interactions With the Ub-Proteasome Pathway

One way SUMO affects the function of its substrates is by preventing ubiquitylation at specific lysine residues. PCNA, Smad4, and $I\kappa B\alpha$ are all examples of substrates where a single lysine residue can be either sumoylated or ubiquitylated. However, it is still not clear in these cases whether SUMO exclusively regulates ubiquitylation or whether it also has a distinct function. The model that sumoylation acts solely by blocking ubiquitylation is perplexing, because often very little of the protein is sumoylated. For example, only a small fraction of $I\kappa B\alpha$ is sumoylated in unstimulated cells, so that upon activation of the inflammatory response pathway, most of the NF κ B in the cell could still be activated via degradation of the remaining unsumoylated $I\kappa B\alpha$. One possible answer to this dilemma is that SUMO may act primarily by shutting off the inflammatory response, rather than by modulating its activation (124). Hypoxia induces proinflammatory genes through Ub-dependent degradation of CREB (cAMP response element binding protein). CREB can also be sumoylated and is stabilized by SUMO overexpression. Strikingly, hypoxia induces ubiquitylation of CREB within one hour, but it induces sumoylation of both CREB and $I\kappa B\alpha$ slowly, with maximal sumoylation after 24–48 h (124). This late induction of sumoylation is consistent with a role for SUMO in resolution of the response.

In other cases, SUMO also appears to have a separate function in addition to preventing ubiquitylation. The transcription factor Smad4 is protected from Ub-dependent proteolysis by attachment of SUMO at its ubiquitylation site, but there is also evidence that sumoylation separately promotes nuclear retention of Smad4 (26). In another example, sumoylation of PCNA inhibits Ub-dependent postreplication DNA repair, consistent with a function for SUMO in blocking ubiquitylation. However, sumoylated PCNA can itself promote spontaneous mutagenesis through the postreplication repair pathway (184), indicating an independent role for SUMO.

SUMO also interacts with the Ub-proteasome pathway by other uncharacterized mechanisms. Sumoylation inhibits degradation of c-myb but not by competing for the ubiquitylation site (134). In contrast, SUMO conjugation coincides with degradation of both PML and the PML-RAR α fusion protein. Agents such as arsenic trioxide induce both sumoylation and proteasome-dependent degradation of PML and PML-RAR α , and the SUMO attachment sites are required for this degradation (161, 193). Of course, if these sites were also used as ubiquitylation sites, the same result would be obtained. Arsenic trioxide also enhances recruitment of the 11S proteasome regulator to PML NBs (161).

Sumoylation Modulates Interactions of Substrate

The most common mode of SUMO action is to alter substrate binding interactions with other macromolecules. Three nonmutually exclusive models for this are (a) the linked SUMO itself could interact with other proteins; (b) both SUMO and the substrate could contribute determinants of the interaction surface; or (c)SUMO could alter the conformation of the substrate, exposing or hiding binding sites within the modified protein. Several of the proteins isolated in the yeast two-hybrid screen with SUMO do bind SUMO noncovalently in pull-down assays. A number of these, including HIPK2 (homeodomain-interacting protein kinase 2), the cytomegalovirus protein IE2, and PIAS proteins, contain a SUMO interacting motif (SIM), which is likely to mediate this interaction. The function of SIMs has not been fully investigated, but the SIM in PIASy is involved in its localization and transcriptional effects (64), and the SIM in HIPK-2 is required for HIPK-2-dependent disruption of PML NBs (194), demonstrating that these motifs have relevant physiological functions. Many of the proteins that interact with SUMO noncovalently, such as TDG, Daxx, CMV IE2, and Dnmt3b, are also covalently modified by SUMO (36, 144, 164, 195). This ability of proteins both to be sumoylated and to interact noncovalently with SUMO may enhance complex formation between various sumoylated proteins, as in PML NBs. However, there are very little data on the prevalence and function of direct noncovalent interactions with conjugated SUMO, and it seems likely that other interactions involving the substrate would also be required for the effects of SUMO to be substrate-specific.

For most of the substrates that have been characterized, changes in binding capabilities are a collaboration between SUMO and the substrate. Sumoylation alters the DNA-binding characteristics of TDG, reducing its affinity for the abasic sites that are the products of its reaction (36). Two ideas for the way this might take place are that SUMO attachment could induce a conformational change in TDG or that SUMO could act more directly, possibly blocking access to the DNA by steric hindrance. In another example, association of the SUMO-RanGAP1 conjugate with RanBP2 requires both SUMO and sequences in RanGAP1. Unsumovlated RanGAP1 does not bind RanBP2, but there is also one RanGAP1 deletion mutant that is sumoylated properly but still does not associate with RanBP2 (90). This result shows that the presence of SUMO is not sufficient for binding to RanBP2; the binding determinant must include sequences in RanGAP1. Supporting this interpretation, free SUMO does not compete with SUMO-RanGAP1 for binding to RanBP2 (22). These results could be explained either by a model in which SUMO induces a conformational change in RanGAP1 to expose a RanBP2 binding-site that is entirely in RanGAP1 or by a model in which RanBP2 interacts with elements in both RanGAP1 and SUMO (90).

Stoichiometric Versus Cycling Roles for SUMO Conjugation

A notable feature of the SUMO system is that SUMO is often attached to only a few percent or less of a given protein. The only clear exception is RanGAP1, which is $\sim 50\%$ modified in most cells (22, 23). Therefore an important unresolved question is how SUMO can affect protein function when only a very small fraction is modified. One possibility is that SUMO could act on a subpopulation of a protein that is different structurally or functionally from the rest of the pool of that protein. For example, it is possible that some transcription factors are preferentially sumoylated when they are bound to certain promoters. Another possibility is that SUMO conjugation could be acting through a cycle of sumoylation and desumoylation, rather than by persistent attachment of SUMO to the substrate. In this model, SUMO attachment would promote a single event, whose consequences would persist after desumoylation. The role that has been proposed for SUMO in TDG function is an example of a such a cycle (36) (Figure 4*a*). Unmodified TDG removes the thymine or uracil at a mismatched site and then remains bound until it is sumoylated. The sumoylated TDG releases from the abasic site and is then desumoylated to prepare it for the next round of high-affinity binding. This cycle converts the DNA-bound form of TDG, state 1, to the unbound form, state 2, where neither of the two states is modified by SUMO (Figure 4b). In this way, the whole population of a protein could be affected by sumoylation, but very little of it would be modified at a given time. It easy to imagine how a sumoylation-desumoylation cycle could act in other situations as well, possibly by promoting protein interactions, inducing conformational changes, or even stimulating other protein modifications that would then be maintained after removal of SUMO. Many of the functions of Ub, including the proteasome pathway and the sorting of membrane proteins in the endosomal system, are carried out by a cycle of ubiquitylation and deubiquitylation. This SUMO cycle model contrasts with a model in which SUMO acts stoichiometrically (Figure 4*b*). Here, attachment of SUMO alters the state of the substrate, and desumoylation returns it to its original state. This is likely to be the case with RanGAP1; the unmodified form localizes to the cytoplasm, state 1, while the sumoylated form associates tightly with the nuclear pore, state 2.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Work over the last several years has shown SUMO to be a remarkably versatile regulator of protein function, both in the number of different biological pathways that it affects and in the different sorts of mechanisms by which it controls the activities of other proteins. Many fundamental questions remain to be answered about both the biological function of SUMO and its mechanism of action. Why is SUMO essential for viability of most eukaryotic cells? What role does it play in maintaining chromosome structure? What are the substrates whose sumoylation participates in these processes? How are sumoylation and desumoylation regulated? How does SUMO alter binding properties of proteins?

There are also fields in which we are catching only our first glimpses of a role for SUMO, as in the pathogenesis of several neurodegenerative diseases. The difficulties associated with detecting SUMO-modified proteins have delayed recognition of the widespread participation of SUMO in cellular processes, and it is likely that as these difficulties are overcome, even more roles for SUMO will be discovered.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I thank G. Bylebyl and A. Reindle for comments on the manuscript. Work in the author's lab is supported by the NIH (GM62268).

The Annual Review of Biochemistry is online at http://biochem.annualreviews.org

LITERATURE CITED

- Hershko A, Ciechanover A. 1998. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 67:425–79
- Pickart CM. 2001. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 70:503–33
- Schwartz DC, Hochstrasser M. 2003. Trends Biochem. Sci. 28:321–28
- Seeler JS, Dejean A. 2003. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 4:690–99
- Verger A, Perdomo J, Crossley M. 2003. EMBO Rep. 4:137–42
- Kim KI, Baek SH, Chung CH. 2002. J. Cell Physiol. 191:257–68

- Müller S, Hoege C, Pyrowolakis G, Jentsch S. 2001. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 2:202–10
- Melchior F. 2000. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 16:591–626
- Fraser AG, Kamath RS, Zipperlen P, Martinez-Campos M, Sohrmann M, Ahringer J. 2000. *Nature* 408:325–30
- Hayashi T, Seki M, Maeda D, Wang W, Kawabe Y, et al. 2002. *Exp. Cell Res.* 280:212–21
- Epps JL, Tanda S. 1998. Curr. Biol. 8:1277–80
- Apionishev S, Malhotra D, Raghavachari S, Tanda S, Rasooly RS. 2001. *Genes Cells* 6:215–24
- Jones D, Crowe E, Stevens TA, Candido EP. 2002. Genome Biol. 3:RE-SEARCH0002
- 14. Chen A, Mannen H, Li SS. 1998. Biochem. Mol. Biol. Int. 46:1161–74
- Kamitani T, Kito K, Nguyen HP, Fukuda-Kamitani T, Yeh ET. 1998. J. Biol. Chem. 273:11349–53
- Shen Z, Pardington-Purtymun PE, Comeaux JC, Moyzis RK, Chen DJ. 1996. Genomics 36:271–79
- Mannen H, Tseng HM, Cho CL, Li SS. 1996. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 222:178–80
- Joanisse DR, Inaguma Y, Tanguay RM. 1998. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 244:102–9
- Howe K, Williamson J, Boddy N, Sheer D, Freemont P, Solomon E. 1998. *Genomics* 47:92–100
- Lois LM, Lima CD, Chua NH. 2003. *Plant Cell* 15:1347–59
- Kurepa J, Walker JM, Smalle J, Gosink MM, Davis SJ, et al. 2003. J. Biol. Chem. 278:6862–72
- Mahajan R, Delphin C, Guan T, Gerace L, Melchior F. 1997. *Cell* 88:97–107
- 23. Matunis MJ, Coutavas E, Blobel G. 1996. J. Cell Biol. 135:1457–70
- Hoege C, Pfander B, Moldovan GL, Pyrowolakis G, Jentsch S. 2002. *Nature* 419:135–41

- Desterro JM, Rodriguez MS, Hay RT. 1998. Mol. Cell 2:233–39
- Lin X, Liang M, Liang YY, Brunicardi FC, Feng XH. 2003. J. Biol. Chem. 278: 31043–48
- 27. Lee PS, Chang C, Liu D, Derynck R. 2003. J. Biol. Chem. 278:27853–63
- Bayer P, Arndt A, Metzger S, Mahajan R, Melchior F, et al. 1998. J. Mol. Biol. 280:275–86
- 28a. Vijay-Kumar S, Bugg CE, Cook WJ. 1987. J. Mol. Biol. 194:531–44
- Bylebyl GR, Belichenko I, Johnson ES. 2003. J. Biol. Chem. 278:44113–20
- Boddy MN, Howe K, Etkin LD, Solomon E, Freemont PS. 1996. Oncogene 13:971–82
- Kamitani T, Nguyen HP, Yeh ET. 1997.
 J. Biol. Chem. 272:14001–4
- Tanaka K, Nishide J, Okazaki K, Kato H, Niwa O, et al. 1999. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 19:8660–72
- Johnson ES, Schwienhorst I, Dohmen RJ, Blobel G. 1997. *EMBO J.* 16:5509–19
- Saitoh H, Hinchey J. 2000. J. Biol. Chem. 275:6252–58
- Hofmann H, Floss S, Stamminger T. 2000. J. Virol. 74:2510–24
- Hardeland U, Steinacher R, Jiricny J, Schär P. 2002. EMBO J. 21:1456–64
- Tatham MH, Jaffray E, Vaughan OA, Desterro JM, Botting CH, et al. 2001. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276:35368–74
- Johnson ES, Gupta AA. 2001. Cell 106: 735–44
- Bencsath KP, Podgorski MS, Pagala VR, Slaughter CA, Schulman BA. 2002. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277:47938–45
- 40. Johnson ES, Blobel G. 1999. *J. Cell Biol.* 147:981–94
- Mahajan R, Gerace L, Melchior F. 1998.
 J. Cell Biol. 140:259–70
- Li Y, Wang H, Wang S, Quon D, Liu YW, Cordell B. 2003. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100:259-64
- Takahashi Y, Toh-e A, Kikuchi Y. 2003. J. Biochem. 133:415–22

- 44. Walden H, Podgorski MS, Schulman BA. 2003. *Nature* 422:330–34
- Okuma T, Honda R, Ichikawa G, Tsumagari N, Yasuda H. 1999. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 254:693–98
- Desterro JM, Rodriguez MS, Kemp GD, Hay RT. 1999. J. Biol. Chem. 274: 10618–24
- Azuma Y, Tan SH, Cavenagh MM, Ainsztein AM, Saitoh H, Dasso M. 2001. *FASEB J.* 15:1825–27
- Desterro JM, Thomson J, Hay RT. 1997. FEBS Lett. 417:297–300
- 49. Johnson ES, Blobel G. 1997. J. Biol. Chem. 272:26799-802
- Tong H, Hateboer G, Perrakis A, Bernards R, Sixma TK. 1997. J. Biol. Chem. 272:21381–87
- Bernier-Villamor V, Sampson DA, Matunis MJ, Lima CD. 2002. *Cell* 108: 345–56
- 52. Tatham MH, Chen Y, Hay RT. 2003. Biochemistry 42:3168–79
- Tatham MH, Kim S, Yu B, Jaffray E, Song J, et al. 2003. *Biochemistry* 42: 9959–69
- al-Khodairy F, Enoch T, Hagan IM, Carr AM. 1995. J. Cell Sci. 108(Pt. 2):475–86
- Seufert W, Futcher B, Jentsch S. 1995. Nature 373:78–81
- Shayeghi M, Doe CL, Tavassoli M, Watts FZ. 1997. Nucleic Acids Res. 25:1162–69
- 57. Jackson PK. 2001. Genes Dev. 15: 3053-58
- 58. Hochstrasser M. 2001. Cell 107:5-8
- 59. Shuai K. 2000. Oncogene 19:2638-44
- Pichler A, Gast A, Seeler JS, Dejean A, Melchior F. 2002. *Cell* 108:109–20
- Kagey MH, Melhuish TA, Wotton D. 2003. Cell 113:127–37
- Takahashi Y, Toh-e A, Kikuchi Y. 2001. Gene 275:223–31
- Kahyo T, Nishida T, Yasuda H. 2001. Mol. Cell 8:713–18
- Sachdev S, Bruhn L, Sieber H, Pichler A, Melchior F, Grosschedl R. 2001. *Genes Dev.* 15:3088–103

- Takahashi Y, Kahyo T, Toh-e A, Yasuda H, Kikuchi Y. 2001. J. Biol. Chem. 276: 48973–77
- Kotaja N, Karvonen U, Jänne OA, Palvimo JJ. 2002. Mol. Cell. Biol. 22:5222–34
- Kirsh O, Seeler JS, Pichler A, Gast A, Müller S, et al. 2002. *EMBO J.* 21:2682–91
- Schmidt D, Müller S. 2002. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 99:2872–77
- 69. Aravind L, Koonin EV. 2000. Trends Biochem. Sci. 25:112–14
- Kipp M, Gohring F, Ostendorp T, van Drunen CM, van Driel R, et al. 2000. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 20:7480–89
- Tan JA, Hall SH, Hamil KG, Grossman G, Petrusz P, French FS. 2002. J. Biol. Chem. 277:16993–7001
- Minty A, Dumont X, Kaghad M, Caput D. 2000. J. Biol. Chem. 275:36316–23
- Mohr SE, Boswell RE. 1999. Gene 229: 109–16
- 74. Hari KL, Cook KR, Karpen GH. 2001. Genes Dev. 15:1334–48
- Betz A, Lampen N, Martinek S, Young MW, Darnell JE Jr. 2001. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 98:9563–68
- Chung CD, Liao J, Liu B, Rao X, Jay P, et al. 1997. *Science* 278:1803–5
- Liu B, Liao JY, Rao XP, Kushner SA, Chung CD, et al. 1998. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95:10626–31
- Wible BA, Wang L, Kuryshev YA, Basu A, Haldar S, Brown AM. 2002. J. Biol. Chem. 277:17852–62
- Wu L, Wu H, Ma L, Sangiorgi F, Wu N, et al. 1997. *Mech. Dev.* 65:3–17
- Moilanen AM, Karvonen U, Poukka H, Yan W, Toppari J, et al. 1999. J. Biol. Chem. 274:3700-4
- Gross M, Liu B, Tan J, French FS, Carey M, Shuai K. 2001. Oncogene 20:3880–87
- Miyauchi Y, Yogosawa S, Honda R, Nishida T, Yasuda H. 2002. J. Biol. Chem. 277:50131–36
- Liu B, Shuai K. 2001. J. Biol. Chem. 276:36624–31
- 84. Chun TH, Itoh H, Subramanian L,

Iñiguez-Lluhi JA, Nakao K. 2003. *Circ. Res.* 92:1201–8

- Rogers RS, Horvath CM, Matunis MJ. 2003. J. Biol. Chem. 278:30091–97
- Ungureanu D, Vanhatupa S, Kotaja N, Yang J, Aittomaki S, et al. 2003. *Blood* 102:3311–13
- Yokoyama N, Hayashi N, Seki T, Pante N, Ohba T, et al. 1995. *Nature* 376:184–88
- Wu J, Matunis MJ, Kraemer D, Blobel G, Coutavas E. 1995. J. Biol. Chem. 270: 14209–13
- Saitoh H, Pu R, Cavenagh M, Dasso M. 1997. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 94: 3736–41
- Matunis MJ, Wu J, Blobel G. 1998.
 J. Cell Biol. 140:499–509
- Saitoh H, Sparrow DB, Shiomi T, Pu RT, Nishimoto T, et al. 1998. *Curr. Biol.* 8:121–24
- Sapetschnig A, Rischitor G, Braun H, Doll A, Schergaut M, et al. 2002. *EMBO* J. 21:5206–15
- 93. Lin X, Sun B, Liang M, Liang YY, Gast A, et al. 2003. *Mol. Cell* 11:1389–96
- 94. Li SJ, Hochstrasser M. 1999. Nature 398:246–51
- Mossessova E, Lima CD. 2000. Mol. Cell 5:865–76
- Strunnikov AV, Aravind L, Koonin EV. 2001. Genetics 158:95–107
- 97. Li SJ, Hochstrasser M. 2003. J. Cell Biol. 160:1069–81
- Panse VG, Küster B, Gerstberger T, Hurt E. 2003. Nat. Cell Biol. 5:21–27
- Hang J, Dasso M. 2002. J. Biol. Chem. 277:19961–66
- Zhang H, Saitoh H, Matunis MJ. 2002. Mol. Cell. Biol. 22:6498–508
- Takahashi Y, Mizoi J, Toh-e A, Kikuchi Y. 2000. J. Biochem. 128:723–25
- Schwienhorst I, Johnson ES, Dohmen RJ. 2000. Mol. Gen. Genet. 263:771–86
- Li SJ, Hochstrasser M. 2000. Mol. Cell. Biol. 20:2367–77
- 104. Gan-Erdene T, Kolli N, Yin L, Wu K, Pan ZQ, Wilkinson KD. 2003. J. Biol. Chem. 278:28892–900

- 105. Mendoza HM, Shen LN, Botting C, Lewis A, Chen JW, et al. 2003. J. Biol. Chem. 278:25637–43
- 106. Yeh ET, Gong L, Kamitani T. 2000. Gene 248:1–14
- 107. Nishida T, Tanaka H, Yasuda H. 2000. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 267:6423–27
- Kim KI, Baek SH, Jeon YJ, Nishimori S, Suzuki T, et al. 2000. J. Biol. Chem. 275: 14102–6
- Bailey D, O'Hare P. 2002. J. Gen. Virol. 83:2951–64
- Best JL, Ganiatsas S, Agarwal S, Changou A, Salomoni P, et al. 2002. *Mol. Cell* 10:843–55
- 111. Kadoya T, Yamamoto H, Suzuki T, Yukita A, Fukui A, et al. 2002. Mol. Cell. Biol. 22:3803–19
- 112. Nishida T, Kaneko F, Kitagawa M, Yasuda H. 2001. J. Biol. Chem. 276: 39060-66
- Rodriguez MS, Dargemont C, Hay RT. 2001. J. Biol. Chem. 276:12654–59
- 114. Sampson DA, Wang M, Matunis MJ. 2001. J. Biol. Chem. 276:21664–69
- Sternsdorf T, Jensen K, Reich B, Will H. 1999. J. Biol. Chem. 274:12555–66
- Adamson AL, Kenney S. 2001. J. Virol. 75:2388–99
- 117. Kamitani T, Kito K, Nguyen HP, Wada H, Fukuda-Kamitani T, Yeh ET. 1998. J. Biol. Chem. 273:26675–82
- 118. Lin X, Liang M, Liang YY, Brunicardi FC, Melchior F, Feng XH. 2003. J. Biol. Chem. 278:18714–19
- 119. Rui HL, Fan E, Zhou HM, Xu Z, Zhang Y, Lin SC. 2002. J. Biol. Chem. 277: 42981–86
- Chakrabarti SR, Sood R, Nandi S, Nucifora G. 2000. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 97:13281–85
- 121. Jang MS, Ryu SW, Kim E. 2002. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 295:495–500
- 122. Rangasamy D, Woytek K, Khan SA, Wilson VG. 2000. J. Biol. Chem. 275: 37999–8004
- 123. Xirodimas DP, Chisholm J, Desterro JM,

Lane DP, Hay RT. 2002. *FEBS Lett.* 528:207–11

- 124. Comerford KM, Leonard MO, Karhausen J, Carey R, Colgan SP, Taylor CT. 2003. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100:986–91
- 125. Everett RD, Lomonte P, Sternsdorf T, van Driel R, Orr A. 1999. J. Cell Sci. 112(Pt. 24):4581–88
- 126. Müller S, Berger M, Lehembre F, Seeler JS, Haupt Y, Dejean A. 2000. J. Biol. Chem. 275:13321–29
- 127. Yang SH, Jaffray E, Hay RT, Sharrocks AD. 2003. *Mol. Cell* 12:63–74
- Hilgarth RS, Hong YL, Park-Sarge OK, Sarge KD. 2003. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 303:196–200
- Hietakangas V, Ahlskog JK, Jakobsson AM, Hellesuo M, Sahlberg NM, et al. 2003. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 23:2953–68
- Braun H, Koop R, Ertmer A, Nacht S, Suske G. 2001. Nucleic Acids Res. 29:4994–5000
- Ross S, Best JL, Zon LI, Gill G. 2002. Mol. Cell 10:831–42
- 132. Chen LH, Chen JD. 2003. Oncogene 22:5348–57
- 133. Poukka H, Karvonen U, Jänne OA, Palvimo JJ. 2000. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 97:14145–50
- Bies J, Markus J, Wolff L. 2002. J. Biol. Chem. 277:8999–9009
- Kim J, Cantwell CA, Johnson PF, Pfarr CM, Williams SC. 2002. J. Biol. Chem. 277:38037–44
- 136. Hirano Y, Murata S, Tanaka K, Shimizu M, Sato R. 2003. J. Biol. Chem. 278: 16809–19
- Matsuzaki K, Minami T, Tojo M, Honda Y, Uchimura Y, et al. 2003. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 306:32–38
- 138. Girdwood D, Bumpass D, Vaughan OA, Thain A, Anderson LA, et al. 2003. *Mol. Cell* 11:1043–54
- Iñiguez-Lluhi JA, Pearce D. 2000. Mol. Cell. Biol. 20:6040–50
- 140. Tian S, Poukka H, Palvimo JJ, Jänne OA. 2002. *Biochem. J.* 367:907–11

- 141. Subramanian L, Benson MD, Iñiguez-Lluhi JA. 2003. J. Biol. Chem. 278: 9134–41
- 142. Abdel-Hafiz H, Takimoto GS, Tung L, Horwitz KB. 2002. J. Biol. Chem. 277: 33950–56
- 143. Hollenbach AD, McPherson CJ, Mientjes EJ, Iyengar R, Grosveld G. 2002. J. Cell Sci. 115:3319–30
- 144. Ryu SW, Chae SK, Kim E. 2000. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 279:6–10
- 145. Tong JK, Hassig CA, Schnitzler GR, Kingston RE, Schreiber SL. 1998. *Nature* 395:917–21
- 146. Long JY, Matsuura I, He DM, Wang GN, Shuai K, Liu F. 2003. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100:9791–96
- 147. Tussie-Luna MI, Bayarsaihan D, Seto E, Ruddle FH, Roy AL. 2002. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 99:12807–12
- Kotaja N, Aittomaki S, Silvennoinen O, Palvimo JJ, Jänne OA. 2000. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 14:1986–2000
- 149. David G, Neptune MA, DePinho RA. 2002. J. Biol. Chem. 277:23658-63
- 150. Petrie K, Guidez F, Howell L, Healy L, Waxman S, et al. 2003. J. Biol. Chem. 278:16059–72
- 151. Hong YL, Rogers R, Matunis MJ, Mayhew CN, Goodson ML, et al. 2001. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276:40263–67
- 152. Goodson ML, Hong Y, Rogers R, Matunis MJ, Park-Sarge OK, Sarge KD. 2001. J. Biol. Chem. 276:18513–18
- Yamamoto H, Ihara M, Matsuura Y, Kikuchi A. 2003. *EMBO J.* 22:2047–59
- 154. Borden KL. 2002. Mol. Cell. Biol. 22:5259–69
- Salomoni P, Pandolfi PP. 2002. Cell 108: 165–70
- 156. Pearson M, Carbone R, Sebastiani C, Cioce M, Fagioli M, et al. 2000. Nature 406:207–10
- Müller S, Matunis MJ, Dejean A. 1998. EMBO J. 17:61–70
- Duprez E, Saurin AJ, Desterro JM, Lallemand-Breitenbach V, Howe K, et al. 1999. J. Cell Sci. 112(Pt. 3):381–93

- 159. Ishov AM, Sotnikov AG, Negorev D, Vladimirova OV, Neff N, et al. 1999. J. Cell Biol. 147:221–34
- Zhong S, Müller S, Ronchetti S, Freemont PS, Dejean A, Pandolfi PP. 2000. *Blood* 95:2748–52
- Lallemand-Breitenbach V, Zhu J, Puvion F, Koken M, Honore N, et al. 2001. J. Exp. Med. 193:1361–71
- Regad T, Chelbi-Alix MK. 2001. Oncogene 20:7274–86
- 163. Everett RD. 2001. Oncogene 20: 7266-73
- 164. Ahn JH, Xu Y, Jang WJ, Matunis MJ, Hayward GS. 2001. J. Virol. 75: 3859–72
- 165. Fogal V, Gostissa M, Sandy P, Zacchi P, Sternsdorf T, et al. 2000. *EMBO J*. 19:6185–95
- 166. Kwek SS, Derry J, Tyner AL, Shen Z, Gudkov AV. 2001. Oncogene 20: 2587–99
- Spengler ML, Kurapatwinski K, Black AR, Azizkhan-Clifford J. 2002. J. Virol. 76:2990–96
- Seeler JS, Marchio A, Losson R, Desterro JM, Hay RT, et al. 2001. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 21:3314–24
- 169. Müller S, Dejean A. 1999. J. Virol. 73:5137–43
- 170. Lin DY, Lai MZ, Ann DK, Shih HM. 2003. J. Biol. Chem. 278:15958-65
- 171. Li H, Leo C, Zhu J, Wu X, O'Neil J, et al. 2000. Mol. Cell. Biol. 20:1784–96
- 172. Lehembre F, Müller S, Pandolfi PP, Dejean A. 2001. *Oncogene* 20:1–9
- Meluh PB, Koshland D. 1995. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 6:793–807
- 174. Fukagawa T, Regnier V, Ikemura T. 2001. Nucleic Acids Res. 29:3796-803
- Pluta AF, Earnshaw WC, Goldberg IG.
 1998. J. Cell Sci. 111(Pt. 14):2029–41
- 176. Joseph J, Tan SH, Karpova TS, McNally JG, Dasso M. 2002. J. Cell Biol. 156: 595–602
- Everett RD, Earnshaw WC, Pluta AF, Sternsdorf T, Ainsztein AM, et al. 1999.
 J. Cell Sci. 112(Pt. 20):3443–54

- 178. Everett RD, Earnshaw WC, Findlay J, Lomonte P. 1999. *EMBO J*. 18:1526–38
- 179. Bachant J, Alcasabas A, Blat Y, Kleckner N, Elledge SJ. 2002. Mol. Cell 9:1169–82
- Mao Y, Desai SD, Liu LF. 2000. J. Biol. Chem. 275:26066–73
- 181. Mao Y, Sun M, Desai SD, Liu LF. 2000. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 97:4046-51
- Horie K, Tomida A, Sugimoto Y, Yasugi T, Yoshikawa H, et al. 2002. Oncogene 21:7913–22
- Rallabhandi P, Hashimoto K, Mo YY, Beck WT, Moitra PK, D'Arpa P. 2002. J. Biol. Chem. 277:40020–26
- 184. Stelter P, Ulrich HD. 2003. Nature 425: 188–91
- 185. Weis K. 2003. Cell 112:441-51
- 186. Stade K, Vogel F, Schwienhorst I, Meusser B, Volkwein C, et al. 2002. J. Biol. Chem. 277:49554–61
- Endter C, Kzhyshkowska J, Stauber R, Dobner T. 2001. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 98:11312–17
- 188. Wood LD, Irvin BJ, Nucifora G, Luce KS, Hiebert SW. 2003. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100:3257–62
- 189. Sobko A, Ma H, Firtel RA. 2002. Dev. Cell 2:745–56
- 190. Giorgino F, de Robertis O, Laviola L, Montrone C, Perrini S, et al. 2000. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 97:1125–30
- Lalioti VS, Vergarajauregui S, Pulido D, Sandoval IV. 2002. J. Biol. Chem. 277: 19783–91
- Bhaskar V, Valentine SA, Courey AJ. 2000. J. Biol. Chem. 275:4033–40
- Zhu J, Lallemand-Breitenbach V, de The H. 2001. Oncogene 20:7257–65
- 194. Engelhardt OG, Boutell C, Orr A, Ullrich E, Haller O, Everett RD. 2003. *Exp. Cell Res.* 283:36–50
- 195. Kang ES, Park CW, Chung JH. 2001. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 289: 862–68



Annual Review of Biochemistry Volume 73, 2004

CONTENTS

THE EXCITEMENT OF DISCOVERY, Alexander Rich	1
MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF MAMMALIAN DNA REPAIR AND THE DNA DAMAGE CHECKPOINTS, Aziz Sancar, Laura A. Lindsey-Boltz, Keziban Ünsal-Kaçmaz, Stuart Linn	39
CYTOCHROME C -MEDIATED APOPTOSIS, Xuejun Jiang, Xiaodong Wang	87
NUCLEAR MAGNETIC RESONANCE SPECTROSCOPY OF HIGH- MOLECULAR-WEIGHT PROTEINS, Vitali Tugarinov, Peter M. Hwang, Lewis E. Kay	107
INCORPORATION OF NONNATURAL AMINO ACIDS INTO PROTEINS, Tamara L. Hendrickson, Valérie de Crécy-Lagard, Paul Schimmel	147
REGULATION OF TELOMERASE BY TELOMERIC PROTEINS, Agata Smogorzewska, Titia de Lange	177
CRAWLING TOWARD A UNIFIED MODEL OF CELL MOBILITY: Spatial and Temporal Regulation of Actin Dynamics, <i>Susanne M.</i> <i>Rafelski, Julie A. Theriot</i>	209
ATP-BINDING CASSETTE TRANSPORTERS IN BACTERIA, Amy L. Davidson, Jue Chen	241
STRUCTURAL BASIS OF ION PUMPING BY CA-ATPASE OF THE SARCOPLASMIC RETICULUM, <i>Chikashi Toyoshima, Giuseppe Inesi</i> DNA POLYMERASE , THE MITOCHONDRIAL REPLICASE, <i>Laurie</i>	269
S. Kaguni	293
Ishii, Nobuyuki Fukushima, Xiaoqin Ye, Jerold Chun	321
PROTEIN MODIFICATION BY SUMO, Erica S. Johnson	355
PYRIDOXAL PHOSPHATE ENZYMES: Mechanistic, Structural, and Evolutionary Considerations, <i>Andrew C. Eliot, Jack F. Kirsch</i>	383
THE SIR2 FAMILY OF PROTEIN DEACETYLASES, Gil Blander, Leonard Guarente	417
INOSITOL 1,4,5-TRISPHOSPHATE RECEPTORS AS SIGNAL INTEGRATORS, Randen L. Patterson, Darren Boehning, Solomon H. Snyder	437
STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION OF TOLC: The Bacterial Exit Duct for Proteins and Drugs, Vassilis Koronakis, Jeyanthy Eswaran, Colin Hughes	467
ROLE OF GLYCOSYLATION IN DEVELOPMENT, Robert S. Haltiwanger, John B. Lowe	491

STRUCTURAL INSIGHTS INTO THE SIGNAL RECOGNITION PARTICLE, Jennifer A. Doudna, Robert T. Batey	539
PALMITOYLATION OF INTRACELLULAR SIGNALING PROTEINS: Regulation and Function, <i>Jessica E. Smotrys, Maurine E.</i> <i>Linder</i>	559
FLAP ENDONUCLEASE 1: A Central Component of DNA Metabolism, Yuan Liu, Hui-I Kao, Robert A. Bambara	589
EMERGING PRINCIPLES OF CONFORMATION-BASED PRION INHERITANCE, Peter Chien, Jonathan S. Weissman, Angela H. DePace	617
THE MOLECULAR MECHANICS OF EUKARYOTIC TRANSLATION, <i>Lee D. Kapp, Jon R. Lorsch</i>	657
MECHANICAL PROCESSES IN BIOCHEMISTRY, Carlos Bustamante, Yann R. Chemla, Nancy R. Forde, David Izhaky	705
INTERMEDIATE FILAMENTS: Molecular Structure, Assembly Mechanism, and Integration Into Functionally Distinct Intracellular Scaffolds, <i>Harald Herrmann, Ueli Aebi</i>	749
DIRECTED EVOLUTION OF NUCLEIC ACID ENZYMES, Gerald F. Joyce	791
USING PROTEIN FOLDING RATES TO TEST PROTEIN FOLDING THEORIES, <i>Blake Gillespie, Kevin W. Plaxco</i>	837
EUKARYOTIC mRNA DECAPPING, Jeff Coller, Roy Parker	861
NOVEL LIPID MODIFICATIONS OF SECRETED PROTEIN SIGNALS, <i>Randall K. Mann, Philip A. Beachy</i>	891
RETURN OF THE GDI: The GoLoco Motif in Cell Division, <i>Francis S.</i> Willard, Randall J. Kimple, David P. Siderovski	925
OPIOID RECEPTORS, Maria Waldhoer, Selena E. Bartlett, Jennifer L. Whistler	953
STRUCTURAL ASPECTS OF LIGAND BINDING TO AND ELECTRON TRANSFER IN BACTERIAL AND FUNGAL P450S, Olena Pylypenko, Ilme Schlichting	991
ROLES OF N-LINKED GLYCANS IN THE ENDOPLASMIC RETICULUM, Ari Helenius, Markus Aebi	1019
ANALYZING CELLULAR BIOCHEMISTRY IN TERMS OF MOLECULAR NETWORKS, Yu Xia, Haiyuan Yu, Ronald Jansen, Michael Seringhaus, Sarah Baxter, Dov Greenbaum, Hongyu Zhao,	
Mark Gerstein	1051